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FOREWORD 

As the recently appointed Director of the Advanced Technology Program (ATP), it is my 

pleasure to provide you with this new version of the ATP Proposal Preparation Kit (Kit). This 

Kit provides you with all the necessary guidelines for developing an ATP proposal during 

fiscal year 2001. All individuals who are currently on the ATP mailing list will receive a copy 

of this Kit as well as other announcements. If you are not on our mailing list and wish to be 

added, please contact our ATP toll-free "hotline" number 1-800-ATP FUND or 1-800-

287-3863. 

All around us, innovation is affecting the way we live. It's spurring economic growth, 

creating jobs, improving our quality of life and putting American companies in the 

lead in many markets. But innovation takes time, resources and a commitment. The ATP 

strives to bridge the gap between the research lab and the marketplace. It accelerates the 

development of innovative technologies that promise significant commercial payoffs and 

widespread benefits for the U.S. economy and society. Through the ATP, government and 

industry share a common commitment to the future -- leveraging public sector funds with 

those of the private sector to support projects that impact and transform businesses, 

industries, and lives. 

This revised Kit has been streamlined and reduced by more than 50 percent to ease the 

burden on potential proposers. One major change is in the ATP proposal submission 

requirements which provides for a multiple stage and sequential review process. This 

multiple stage process has been instituted to reduce the amount of information required at 

one time. Required information may be submitted at different stages as determinations are 

made that a proposal has high merit based on the established selection criteria. 

If this is your introduction to the ATP, I encourage you to visit our Web home page located 

at http://www.atp.nist.gov. The home page provides general information about the ATP, 

resources that can help you develop a proposal, a searchable database of previously funded 

ATP projects, and much more. 

New opportunities bring us new challenges. I look forward to receiving many creative and 

innovative proposals. 

Alan P. Balutis, Director  

Advanced Technology Program 

National Institute of Standards and Technology  
 

CHAPTER 1: QUESTIONS & ANSWERS 
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1. What is the Advanced Technology Program (ATP)? 

 

The Advanced Technology Program (ATP) began in 1990 to provide cost shared funding to industry to 

accelerate the development and broad dissemination of challenging, high-risk technologies that promise 

significant commercial payoffs and widespread benefits for the nation. This unique government-industry 

partnership accelerates the development of emerging or enabling technologies, leading to revolutionary new 

products, industrial processes and services that can compete in rapidly changing world markets. The program 

challenges industry to take on higher risk projects with commensurately higher potential payoff to the nation 

than they would otherwise. The ATP statutory authority is 15 U.S.C. Sec. 278n 

(http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/15/278n.text.html). The ATP implementing regulations may be found in 

15 CFR Part 295 (http://www.access.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/cfrhtml_00/Title_15/15cfr295_00.html). 

 

2. Who may apply? 

 

A single for-profit company and/or industry-led joint venture. See section B. of this chapter for more details. 

 

3. How can I receive funding? 

 

You must submit a proposal to ATP in response to a solicitation/request for proposals published by ATP. 

Annual notices are published in the Federal Register announcing the availability of ATP funds. Additionally, a 

specific solicitation/request for proposals is published in the Commerce Business Daily (CBD). 

 

4. What are the guidelines for preparing an ATP proposal? 

 

Detailed instructions for preparing an ATP proposal are provided in Chapter 2 of this Kit. Proposal submission 

requirements have been modified to a multiple stage and sequential review process to reduce the amount of 

information required at one time. Required information may be submitted at different stages as determinations 

are made by ATP that a proposal has high merit based on the selection criteria. We call these stages in the 

review process "gates." A proposal must pass through each gate in order to receive funding. 

 

5. How many gates are there in this new proposal submission process? 

 

There are four "gates" as follows:  

Gate 1: The proposer submits detailed information to address the scientific and technological merit 

selection criterion. Additionally, the proposer submits preliminary information to address the selection 

criterion on the potential for broad-based economic benefits. If the information submitted is 

determined to have high merit, ATP notifies the proposer and requests that the required additional 

information be submitted for consideration in Gate 2. 

Gate 2: The proposer submits more detailed information to address the potential for broad-based 

economic benefits selection criterion and detailed budget data. If the information submitted is 

determined to have high merit, ATP notifies the proposer of its selection as a semi-finalist and the 

proposal proceeds to Gate 3. 

Gate 3: The proposer is requested to submit required forms and additional documentation, as 

necessary, and may be invited to NIST for an oral review. If ATP determines, based on all the 

information received, that the proposal has sufficiently high merit to be funded, the proposal is 

considered a finalist and proceeds to Gate 4. 

Gate 4: Final award processing and issuance, if selected. 
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6. Will confidential/proprietary information in my proposal be protected? 

 

Yes. Information obtained by ATP or other Department of Commerce offices on a confidential basis on 

business operations and trade secrets possessed by any company or joint venture will be protected by the 

government to the full extent of the law. Such information will be withheld from disclosure under the Freedom 

of Information Act. 

 

7. Where can I seek help with preparing my proposal? 

 

 Visit ATP's website at ht http://www.atp.nist.gov/atp/resources.htm which provides links to State agencies 

and to other resources, both public and private, that can help proposers develop ATP proposals.  

 Visit the ATP ALLIANCE NETWORK website at http://www.atp.nist.gov/alliance which provides useful 

tools for creating and managing R&D partnerships. The website offers interactive forums such as the 

Collaboration Bulletin Board, through which potential proposers can anonymously post their interest in 

finding a partner, and the R&D Alliances Forum, where individuals can exchange their ideas and questions 

about high-risk R&D alliances.  

 The NIST Manufacturing Extension Partnership (MEP) is a nationwide network of locally managed 

extension centers whose sole purpose is to provide small and medium-sized manufacturers with the help 

they need to succeed. The centers provide guidance to high technology companies seeking resources and 

teaming relationships that help with commercialization efforts. To contact an MEP Center, call 1-800-MEP 

4 MFG (1-800-637-4634) or visit MEP's website at http://www.mep.nist.gov.  

 

8. Does ATP hold any public meetings or conferences to assist in proposal preparation? 

 

Yes. ATP holds one or more proposers' conferences. These meetings provide general information regarding the 

ATP, tips on preparing good proposals, and an opportunity for questions and answers. Proprietary technical 

discussions of specific proposals should not take place at this public meeting. Attendance is not required, and 

many successful ATP recipients have not attended a proposers' conference. However, those who have attended 

have said they found the session helpful. Each ATP competition announcement will include information 

regarding the time and place of proposers' conferences. If you plan to attend a conference, please complete and 

return the ATP Proposers' Conference Registration Form (see Exhibit 1). Receipt of your advance registration 

form will assist us in making adequate provisions for attendees. 

NIST staff will not critique individual proprietary project ideas during the time they are being developed by a 

proposer. However, we will at any time answer questions you may have about such things as our project 

selection criteria, selection process, eligibility requirements, cost sharing requirements, and the general 

characteristics of a good ATP project. 

 

9. Is there a deadline for submitting an ATP proposal? 

 

Yes. Once an ATP solicitation/request for proposals is published in the Commerce Business Daily (CBD), you 

may submit your proposal until the date specified in the CBD. 

 

10. Where do I submit proposals? 

 

National Institute of Standards and Technology 

Advanced Technology Program 

100 Bureau Drive, Stop 4701 

Administration Building 101, Room A413 

Gaithersburg, MD 20899-4701 
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